IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

03/18/2022

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0510

No. DA 21-0510

CODY WAYNE JOHNSTON

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Respondent and Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Seventh Judicial District Court, Richland County, The Honorable Elizabeth A. Best, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

JOSEPH P. HOWARD Joseph P. Howard, P.C. P.O. Box 1928 Helena, MT 596024

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER AND APPELLANT AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General MELISSA BROCH Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

Issue presented

Whether the district court erred in concluding trial counsel rendered effective assistance although counsel failed to object to multiple instances of misconduct the prosecutor committed in closing argument.

Statement of the case

In *State v. Johnston*, Cody Johnston (Johnston) was charged by Information with deliberate homicide, a felony, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-102(1)(a), and tampering with physical evidence, a felony, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-7-207(1)(a). (DC 15-092 (D.C.) Doc. 3.) The State theorized Johnston, on or about February 14, 2013, purposely or knowingly caused the death of his former fiancé, Nichole Waller (Waller), and thereafter concealed or removed her body with the purpose to impair its verity or availability in the proceeding or investigation. (D.C. Doc. 3.)

Johnston was indigent and Office of the State Public Defender (OSPD) attorneys Clark Mathews (Mathews) and Casey Moore (Moore) were appointed as counsel. (D.C. Docs. 18, 20.) Following a four-day jury trial, Johnston was found guilty of both counts of the Information.

(D.C. Doc. 160; Trial at 989.)¹ The court sentenced Johnston to the Montana State Prison for a period of life pursuant to Count I, and imposed a consecutive, ten-year sentence pursuant to Count II. (D.C. Doc. 180; Trial at 1108-09.) This Court affirmed Johnston's sentence by memorandum opinion on October 16, 2018. *State v. Johnston*, 2018 MT 265N, 394 Mont. 387, 428 P.3d 253.

Johnston timely pursued postconviction relief. (DV 18-185 (D.V.) Docs. 2-3.) Following the appointment of counsel, Johnston filed an amended petition and, relevant to the instant appeal, argued trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance (IAC) by failing to object to the misconduct the prosecutor committed in closing argument. (D.V. Doc. 52.)

The court found trial counsel failed to object to multiple instances of misconduct the prosecutor committed in closing argument; however, it nevertheless denied Johnston's amended petition. (D.V. Doc. 80 at 8-10.) It is from this Order Johnston now appeals. (D.V. Doc. 80, attached as Ex. A.)

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ The trial and sentencing transcripts from DC 15-092 will be cited as "Trial;" the PCR hearing transcript will be cited as "PCR."

Statement of the facts

Waller's family took Johnston into their home for a few months in 1997 when Johnston was a senior in high school. (Trial at 281-82, 843.) Waller and Johnston reconnected years later via Facebook. (Trial at 282, 846-47.) At the time, Waller was living in a single-wide trailer in the Kalispell area and Johnston was living in a home in Fairview, Montana. (Trial at 283-84, 847-48.) They began a long-distance relationship; Waller would travel to Fairview and Johnston would travel to Kalispell. (Trial at 284.)

Waller suffered from a number of serious medical maladies and Johnston provided care and financial assistance. (Trial at 284.)

Johnston ultimately purchased and remodeled a double-wide trailer in the Kalispell area for Waller and her children to reside in. (Trial at 284, 849.) Waller sold her single-wide trailer for \$10,000 and applied these proceeds towards the purchase of the double-wide trailer from Johnston. (Trial at 850-51.) Although Waller agreed to pay Johnston the balance of \$2,000, pursuant to monthly payments, she failed to make any additional payments towards the purchase of the double-wide

trailer. (Trial at 377, 851, 917.) Johnston did not pursue any legal action to enforce the agreement or evict Waller. (Trial at 851.)

Waller and Johnston broke up for a period of time in 2012, and Johnston began dating Amber Fleming (Fleming). (Trial at 286-87, 852, 919-20.) Waller subsequently fabricated a story about being pregnant with Johnston's child to win Johnston back. (Trial at 286, 306, 852.) Johnston broke up with Fleming and Waller moved into Johnston's home in Fairview. (Trial at 852-53, 920.) Waller later claimed she suffered a miscarriage. (Trial at 286, 853-55.) Johnston confronted Waller in January 2013 after learning she had faked the pregnancy. (Trial at 286, 853-55.)

Johnston thereafter made arrangements for Waller to enter a treatment program, but Waller refused to go. (Trial at 711, 855-56.)

Johnston ultimately decided to end the relationship and told Waller she needed to return to Kalispell. (Trial at 856.) Johnston believed he still owned the double-wide trailer and had an acquaintance secure the home. (Trial at 857-58, 917, 920.)

Waller spent the days leading up to Valentine's Day 2013 packing her belongings and preparing to move back to Kalispell. (Trial at 293, 318.) She informed multiple people she intended to depart Fairview the morning of February 14, 2013. (Trial at 296, 365, 383.) Although the relationship was clearly over from Johnston's perspective, Waller invited Johnston to dinner and a movie at his home the evening of February 13, 2013. (Trial at 712-13, 858-59, 910-11.) Johnston, however, chose to socialize with a coworker and ultimately spent the night in a travel trailer parked at his employer's business in Sidney. (Trial at 495-96, 858-59, 910-11, 918.)

Waller called and texted Johnston the next morning, February 14, 2013. (Trial 715-16.) She also called her ex-husband, Jason Waller, and caregiver, Mark Hines (Hines). (Trial at 365, 716.) She texted Hines at 7:25 a.m.—"I'm on way [sic]." (Trial at 383, 717.) No further calls or texts were sent from Waller's phone after that time. Waller never arrived in Kalispell and, although there have been some reported sightings, she has never been located. (Trial at 464, 809-14, 870.)

Cell phone records demonstrate Johnston arrived home around 7:26 a.m., February 14, 2013. (Trial at 584.) Johnston located Waller's vehicle in the driveway; however, Waller was nowhere to be found. (Trial at 861.) Believing Waller was out buying cigarettes or had left

with somebody else, Johnston hatched a childish and vindictive scheme to move Waller's vehicle to a different location. (Trial at 861-63, 866, 877.)

Johnston later drove to Bill Sorteberg's (Sorteberg) home and solicited Sorteberg's assistance in moving Waller's vehicle. (Trial at 652, 863.) Sorteberg alleged Johnston, at the time, was also searching for a "banded barrel" with a secure lid. (Trial at 651-52, 656-57, 921-22.) Sorteberg did not have any such barrel, but agreed to help Johnston in moving Waller's vehicle. (Trial at 651-53.) Johnston denied seeking a "banded barrel" with a secure lid; rather, he was looking for "grease drums"—"3 feet tall, 18 inches diameter"—to use as garbage cans in his garage. (Trial at 864, 896, 919.) Johnston, with Sorteberg's assistance, ultimately abandoned Waller's vehicle west of Poplar. (Trial at 311, 316-17, 619, 655, 866-67.) Johnston would go on to spend the weekend—February 15-17, 2013—with Fleming at his home in Fairview. (Trial at 675, 727-28, 911-13.)

Johnston later emptied the double-wide trailer of most of its contents without consulting Waller's family. (Trial 366-67, 371, 820-21, 901-02.) Waller's sister, Carmen Keibler (Keibler), alleged Johnston

had previously agreed to allow Keibler into the home to document and remove Waller's property and personal belongings. (Trial at 820-21.) Keibler retrieved Waller's personal belongings in June 2013, but only after Johnston allegedly threatened to clean out the home if Keibler was unable or unwilling to take immediate action to retrieve her sister's belongings. (Trial at 822.)

Johnston ultimately sold the double-wide trailer months after
Waller's disappearance. (Trial at 869, 914-16.) He did not share any of
the proceeds from the sale with Waller's family. (Trial at 915.)

State's closing

The prosecutor opened the State's closing argument by expressing the following personal opinion as to the evidence:

I'll try to be as brief as I can, because **I**, **quite honestly**, think it's obvious that after three years, Nicole Waller is dead.

(Trial at 935 (emphasis added).) Regarding Waller's vehicle and its contents, the prosecutor opined: "[Waller] left two live guinea pigs.

That tells me that's one of the last things she put in the car, and she's on her way home." (Trial at 936 (emphasis added).) Again, regarding the evidence if any of Waller's demise, the prosecutor personally opined:

The one thing he did right was he hid that body so nobody could find her, I think it's clear, unfortunately, that we have proven beyond a reasonable doubt that [Waller] is dead.

(Trial at 941 (emphasis added).)

Regarding Johnston's trial testimony, and his credibility in that regard, the prosecutor personally implored the jury:

Quite frankly, ladies and gentlemen, the story the defendant told you yesterday makes no sense whatsoever. It's as foggy as what we drove through this morning coming here. You should reject it as pure fiction.

(Trial at 942 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor reminded the jury of Johnston's decision to brush off Waller the night of February 13, 2013, expressing his personal opinion as to the contrast between Waller's character compared to Johnston's character:

On the 13th, even though they've had this disagreement over the house, even though she can't wait to get home—she hates it there. You heard that—she still asks if he wants to come home and watch a movie. I think that tells us a little bit about [Waller].

What did this defendant do? He lies to her. He says he's working, because he'd already set up this little rendezvous with Jim Renner, where they can go out and have a good time, party and drink.

(Trial at 942-43 (emphasis added).) Moreover, that Johnston decided to end the relationship with Waller and rekindle his relationship with Fleming, the prosecutor lambasted Johnston's character:

He asked for a couple weeks from [Fleming]. He needed time to dump [Waller], get his house back, and [Fleming] would be his new girlfriend. Who treats a person like that? Who lies to a person like that?

(Trial at 943-44 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor next highlighted the evidence regarding Johnston's decision to surreptitiously padlock the double-wide trailer in Kalispell, continuing his overt attack on Johnston's character:

Knowing [Waller is] leaving, knowing that that car's packed—well, [Johnston] calls an old high school buddy, Frank Witts, and asks him to go to the house, check on it, and when it looks like nobody's there, put padlocks on the door and screw the windows closed. **Wow. Nice Guy**.

(Trial at 944 (emphasis added).) The prosecutor then expressed his own emotional reaction to this evidence: "And what I found heart wrenching was after she's locked out, those kids are locked out—you read the texts." (Trial at 945 (emphasis added).) Indeed, that Johnston surreptitiously padlocked the double-wide trailer, the prosecutor explicitly implored the jury to consider Johnston's character in that regard:

[T]he defendant was extremely happy. He had locked her out. I ask you, what kind of man does that? And what does that tell you about his character?

(Trial at 945 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor also highlighted the evidence of Johnston's failure to pursue a civil remedy regarding the double-wide trailer and Waller's apparent default. (Trial at 946.) Again, he reminded the jury of Johnston's decision to surreptitiously padlock the double-wide trailer and, again, expressed his personal opinion as to Johnston's character:

[Johnston] didn't care that that's her house. She owns it. He's still going to tell her who can come and go . . . he's seeing [Fleming] at the same time he's seeing [Waller], but he doesn't want Mark Hines there, [Waller's] caretaker? Are you kidding me? The person who helped her sometimes get through the day, even giving her showers when she wasn't capable. I think that, again, tells us reams about who [Johnston] is.

(Trial at 946 (emphasis added).) The prosecutor then implored the jurors to consider the evidence regarding Johnston's sale of the double-wide trailer: "He sold that house. Did Nicole's family get anything out of it? Did her kids get anything out of it?" (Trial at 947 (emphasis added).)

Regarding Johnston's testimony concerning the calls he placed to Waller the morning of February 14, 2013, the prosecutor offered his

personal opinion as to this evidence: "I found it a little unusual when he told law enforcement, told anyone who would listen, that he turned off her phone at 8:00 because she kept bothering and hassling him with calls." (Trial at 949 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor argued Johnston lost control and killed Waller.

(Trial at 951.) Whether Waller died by strangulation or suffocation, the prosecutor speculated:

We don't know, because he hid her body. Her body now rests in some dirty and disrespectful location, hidden by the defendant.

(Trial at 951 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor also highlighted the conflicting accounts as to whether Johnston was in search of a "55-gallon barrel with a lid" or a smaller "grease drum" for use as a garbage can in his garage. (Trial at 953.) The prosecutor insisted, "no doubt about it, [Johnston] wanted a 55-gallon barrel with a lid." (Trial at 953.) He then overtly expressed his personal opinion as to Johnston's lack of credibility, and vouched for the truthfulness of Sorteberg's account:

Now, the defendant comes up with all this little swirly stuff about having some little, small thing. I submit to you, ladies and gentlemen, when it comes to the credibility of this defendant, who has lied and lied and lied

throughout this trial, compared to Bill Sorteberg, who raised his hand under oath, you make that decision. I think it's simple. I think it's easy.

(Trial at 953 (emphasis added).) The prosecutor then ridiculed Johnston's explanation for moving Waller's vehicle: "Come on. That's ridiculous." (Trial at 953-54 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor next highlighted Johnston's conduct and purported lack of cooperation with Waller's family in cleaning out the double-wide trailer. (Trial at 960-61.) He then explicitly implored the jury to consider Johnston's character:

Again, what does that tell you about the defendant, about his character? He couldn't wait a week? He couldn't—she's missing, and he couldn't meet with the family of [Waller] to make sure that maybe there was something they may want to hold on to?

(Trial at 961 (emphasis added).) That Johnston purportedly insisted Keibler immediately remove Waller's personal belongings from the double-wide trailer the prosecutor, again, attacked Johnston's character: "Wow. What does that tell us about this man?" (Trial at 961 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor touted the significance of the timeline the State established during the course of Johnston's trial. (Trial at 961-62.) He then explicitly expressed his personal opinion as to Johnston's guilt:

Throughout this entire trial, one of the things we've tried to do is outline a tight timeline that shows—I believe proves—that only the defendant had the motive, only the defendant had the opportunity, and only the defendant had the means to kill Nicole Waller.

(Trial at 961-62 (emphasis added).) The prosecutor next highlighted the evidence demonstrating Johnston was less than forthright with law enforcement regarding his whereabouts and movements. (Trial at 962-63.) He ridiculed Johnston's lack of transparency with law enforcement and expressed his personal opinion as to Johnston's motivation: "It's crazy. I submit what it is—and I think that's obvious—that it's survival mode." (Trial at 963 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor concluded the State's initial closing with the following argument:

Somewhere in Montana, Nicole Waller lies in a cold and lonely grave, taken from her children, taken from her family, by that man, Cody Johnston.

(Trial at 964-65 (emphasis added).)

Pursuant to the State's rebuttal closing, the prosecutor continued to attack Johnston's testimony and credibility in that regard: "Why would [Johnston] make up an alibi if [Waller] just went to the store for cigarettes? **That's crazy**." (Trial at 982 (emphasis added).) The prosecutor also denigrated defense counsel's closing:

Now, I don't know where this 17—7:19 came up with. **That's crazy**. You heard the testimony, and the defendant admitted it. On the way to Fairview, he's calling 7:13, 7:17, 7:20, 7:21, 7:22, and arrives at 7:25. That's what Cody Johnston said. That's what Sy Ray said. That's what the phone records say. Then he comes up with some red herring about 7:19, couldn't have been there. **Not Credible**.

(Trial at 983 (emphasis added).)

The prosecutor again highlighted the conflicting accounts as to whether Johnston was in search of a "55-gallon barrel with a lid" or a smaller "grease drum" for work purposes. (Trial at 983-84.) He then openly mocked Johnston's testimony in that regard and explicitly expressed his personal opinion as to why Johnston was searching for a barrel:

And then he stops—"Oh, by the way, all this going on about the"—"Oh, by the way, I need a barrel for work." **That's ridiculous. Absolutely ridiculous. I know what that barrel was for**. Bill Sorteberg knew what that barrel was for. The defendant knew what that barrel was for. And I submit you should know what that barrel was for as well.

(Trial at 984 (emphasis added).) Finally, that Johnston believed he retained ownership of the double-wide trailer, the prosecutor chided Johnston's testimony: "He thought it was his. **That's ridiculous**." (Trial at 984 (emphasis added).)

PCR evidentiary hearing

Trial counsel had been lead or co-counsel in more than 20 jury trials in Montana courts and had observed many trials. (D.V. Doc 67 (Mathews Aff.) at ¶ 5.) He alleged: "While I have objected during opening or closing and seen others do so, I do not recall having ever seen one sustained." (D.V. Doc. 67 at ¶ 5.)

Trial counsel characterized the prosecutor's closing in the present case as "histrionic." (D.V. Doc. 67 at ¶ 8; PCR at 35.) Regarding the prosecutor's statements detailed *supra*, trial counsel did not object because he did not think the arguments conflicted with Johnston's theory of defense. He also alleged: "I thought some of his arguments were a rather desperate attempt to conjure up a motive. I believed the jury would see it that way." (D.V. Doc. 67 at ¶ 8.)

Additionally, trial counsel explained: "I didn't object because it's closing . . . in my experience, the Judge typically says this is, you know,

this is closing argument. Overruled, it's argument, you know." (PCR at 22.) Again, he averred, "I didn't think they would be sustained." (PCR at 24.) Regarding the prosecutor's arguments attacking Johnston's character, trial counsel did not object because, "the more time [the prosecutor] spent, you know, focusing on things like that rather than some of the more damning evidence I was okay with." (PCR at 26-27.)

Regarding the "potential vouching" the prosecutor committed in closing, trial counsel conceded the prosecutor's personal assertions that the State had established Waller was dead were "likely inappropriate." (D.V. Doc. 67 at ¶ 12; PCR at 27.) He did not object, however, because "we made the strategic decision to not challenge [Waller] was likely dead" and "it was more appropriate for the jury to consider whether [Johnston] was the one responsible for it." (D.V. Doc. 67 at ¶ 12; PCR at 27-28.)

That the prosecutor in closing expressed his personal opinion

Johnston was guilty, trial counsel alleged, "prosecutors always say that
in closing." (PCR at 29-30.) He acknowledged this argument was not
consistent with Johnston's theory of defense and offered the following
explanation for his failure to object: "nothing jumped out to me could

cause me to want to object to where I thought the Judge would sustain it." (PCR at 32.) Again, trial counsel explained:

Because typically, my instinct in closing, unless something jumps out at me, is I'm not going to get up there and object because, as I've seen countless times, the Judge says, you know, this is argument; this is closing argument. I remind the jury that this isn't evidence and—and so, that was—that was what happened.

(PCR at 33.)

The court found the prosecutor's closing was, "permeated with personal opinion and commentary." (Ex. A at 8.) It observed, "it's obvious . . . [the prosecutor] on—on several occasions, using—uses the pronoun 'I' and 'me' in his argument." (PCR at 31.) In that regard, the court declared, "there was certainly, a fairly significant amount of vouching by [the prosecutor] that was inappropriate and improper and may fit into the category of prosecutorial misconduct." (PCR at 44.) The court reiterated:

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