#### 07/06/2022

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0510

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 21-0510

#### CODY WAYNE JOHNSTON,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

## STATE OF MONTANA,

Respondent and Appellee.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Seventh Judicial District Court, Richland County, The Honorable Elizabeth A. Best, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General MARDELL PLOYHAR Assistant Attorney General P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026

Fax: 406-444-3549 mployhar@mt.gov

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

Johnston also asked Sorteberg to give Johnston a ride from Poplar back to his house. (*Id.* at 652.) Sorteberg agreed. (*Id.*) According to cell phone data, Johnston was at his home around 9:00 a.m. (*Id.* at 587-88.) By 9:30 a.m., his phone records demonstrate that he had traveled back toward Sidney. (*Id.*) He turned off his phone at that time, and his phone remained off for nearly three hours. (*Id.* at 588.) Waller's phone was in the same location as Johnston's phone between 9:00 and 9:30 a.m., and it was powered off at the same time. (*Id.* at 595.) Because the phones were off, there is no cell phone data demonstrating his location for that time period.

During that time, Johnston drove Waller's Ford Expedition to meet Sorteberg, and then Sorteberg followed him in his truck. (*Id.* at 652, 657.)

Johnston left the Expedition on the side of the road near Poplar and got a ride back to his house from Sorteberg. (*Id.* at 655.)

Johnston had two phones with him when he got into Sorteberg's vehicle. (*Id.* at 655.) When Sorteberg stopped at a John Deere dealership to pick up a tire, Johnston asked the dealership for a barrel. (*Id.* at 656.) He did not take one because the barrels they had did not have a secure lid like he was looking for. (*Id.* at 657.) Between 11 a.m. and noon, one of Johnston's coworkers drove past his house and saw his truck backed up to the garage. (*Id.* at 504.)

The next day, Johnston called Sorteberg and asked him to forget that he gave Johnston a ride back from Poplar. (*Id.* at 658.) And he called several days later to find out if they "were on the same page with the story." (*Id.* at 660.) Law enforcement later discovered the Expedition on the side of Highway 2 just west of Poplar. (*Id.* at 316.) It was full of Waller's belongings, including her medications, and contained two live guinea pigs. (*Id.* at 316, 404-07, 620-21.)

On February 16, 2013, a friend of Waller's called law enforcement to report that she was supposed to have come back to Kalispell two days earlier, and she had not arrived. (*Id.* at 310.) The assistant chief-of-police in Sidney, Bob Burnison, called Johnston on February 18, 2013, and spoke to him. (*Id.* at 347.) Burnison

also interviewed Johnston at the police station on February 19, 2013. (*Id.* at 351.) Johnston told Burnison that he last saw Waller around noon on February 13, 2013 when he came home for lunch, and she was at his house. (*Id.* at 348.) Johnston said he went back to work and then spent that night in a camper at his worksite. (*Id.*) Johnston claimed that Waller called him on the morning of February 14 and told him she was leaving for Kalispell. (*Id.* at 349.) He stated that when he went home around noon on February 14, Waller and her vehicle were gone. (*Id.*) Johnston claimed that he and the bank owned the house in Kalispell that Waller was living in. (*Id.* at 352.) Johnston stated that Waller was angry at him on the morning of February 14 because he had placed padlocks on the home in Kalispell. (*Id.* at 353.)

Leading up to February 14, 2013, Johnston had been texting Amber Fleming, with whom he had been romantically involved, telling her that he was trying to take care of the situation with Waller so that he and Fleming could be together. (*Id.* at 693-700.) Johnston renewed his relationship with Fleming within one day of Waller's disappearance. (*Id.* at 911-12.)

Law enforcement went to Fleming's home in Flathead County on February 23, 2013, to execute a search warrant for Johnston's truck. (*Id.* at 327.) Officers located a safe containing Waller's paperwork in a trash bag inside of a locked box in the back of Johnston's truck. (*Id.* at 331-32, 761.)

The safe contained a buy-sell agreement stating, "I, Cody Johnston, am selling Nicole Waller a 1996 Liberty home for the sum of \$12,000." (*Id.* at 796-800.) The agreement provided that "Nicole has made a down payment of \$10,000 with the balance to be paid with monthly payments of \$100 per month for 20 months until the balance is paid in full. As soon as the balance is paid in full, the title to the home will be transferred to Nicole." (*Id.* at 800-01.)

Johnston was interviewed by Flathead County Sheriff's Deputy Geno Cook, and he again stated that the house in Kalispell was his, and Waller was very angry that he had placed locks on it. (*Id.* at 329, 673.) Deputy Cook asked Johnston if Waller would have any paperwork giving her possession of the home, and he said no. (*Id.* at 674.)

On February 20, 2013, Waller's sister received a Facebook message, purportedly from Waller, stating, "Everybody had a lovely evening. Not coming home. Don't laugh at me. Sorry I let everybody down." (*Id.* at 632.) Law enforcement discovered that a friend of Johnston's posted the message at Johnston's request. (*Id.* at 632, 775-76.) Before that friend posted the message, Johnston tried to get two other people to post a Facebook message purporting to be Waller. Both declined. (*Id.* at 767-68, 771-72.) One person asked Johnston why he wanted him to falsify a Facebook posting. Johnston told him that the cops were

hounding him about his missing girlfriend, and he wanted to make it look like she was okay somewhere else. (*Id.* at 772.)

Law enforcement was never able to find Waller's body, but they also could not find any indication that she was alive. Waller did not contact her family, including her young children. (*Id.* at 298.) She also did not access her bank accounts, visit her daughter residing in a treatment facility, request her medical records, or follow up with medical appointments. (*Id.* at 780-95.) Although Waller's body was never found, law enforcement determined that Waller was dead and charged Johnston with homicide in August 2015. (Trial Doc. 3.)

#### II. The criminal trial

At trial, Johnston testified that Waller called him on the morning of February 14, 2013, and she was angry that he had locked up the house in Kalispell. (Trial Tr. at 860.) He testified that when he got to his house, she was gone, but her vehicle was there. (*Id.* at 861.) He claimed that he assumed she had left with somebody, and he moved her vehicle because he "was being very childish and very vindictive." (*Id.* at 863.) He stated that the keys and her phone were in the vehicle, and he threw the phone away. (*Id.* at 865.)

Johnston testified that he was not worried about Waller because he always knew she would show up. (*Id.* at 869.) He claimed he sold the trailer that she had

been living in a few months after she disappeared because it had been broken into. (*Id.*) He acknowledged that he repeatedly lied to investigators. And he acknowledged that he asked others to lie for him to hide the fact that he had not been at work that morning and that he had moved Waller's vehicle. (*Id.* at 870, 881-83, 903-04.) He claimed that he lied because he was scared. (*Id.* at 870.) He said he thought the false Facebook posting was "a harmless thing. I'd get left alone, and she would come back." (*Id.* at 872.)

Near the beginning of the State's closing argument, the prosecutor stated, "I'll try to be as brief as I can, because I, quite honestly, think it's obvious that after three years, Nicole Waller is dead." (Id. at 935.) The prosecutor then highlighted the quantity of evidence demonstrating that Waller was no longer alive. The prosecutor noted that Waller had not had any contact with her children, whom she had had regular contact with before. Waller had not sent anyone any messages, even though she had previously used text messages, phone calls, and social media extensively. Waller had not followed up with her medical appointments, which she had routinely attended previously. Additionally, Waller did not withdraw any money from her accounts, even though she had been desperate for money before her death. (*Id.* at 935-41.) The prosecutor noted that Waller had left her belongings in her vehicle, which Johnston had abandoned on the side of the road near Poplar, and she had put live guinea pigs in her vehicle,

which suggested that she was planning on leaving soon. (*Id.* at 935-36.) While making that argument, the prosecutor stated that the live guinea pigs "tell[] me that's one of the last things she put in the car, and she's on her way home." (*Id.* at 936.) After discussing the evidence that Waller was dead, the prosecutor concluded, "I think it's clear, unfortunately, that we have proven beyond any doubt that Nicole Waller is dead." (*Id.* at 941.)

The prosecutor shifted to arguing that Johnston had killed Waller. The prosecutor discussed the morning of February 14 and provided a theory about what had occurred that morning. (*Id.* at 941-42.) He opined that "the story the defendant told you yesterday makes no sense whatsoever . . . . You should reject it as pure fiction." (Id. at 942.) The prosecutor pointed out that Johnston had lied to Waller on the evening of February 13, and argued that he also lied to Fleming. (*Id.*) at 943-44.) He then asked, "Who treats a person like that? Who lies to a person like that?" (Id. at 944.) The prosecutor then discussed Johnston having padlocks placed on Waller's trailer in Kalispell, after which the prosecutor stated, "Wow. Nice guy." (Id.) The prosecutor pointed out that Johnston got a person to place locks on Waller's door by falsely claiming that squatters were in the trailer, but Waller had paid Johnston \$10,000 for the trailer, and the people in the trailer were people allowed to be there. (*Id.* at 945.) The prosecutor further pointed out that after locking Waller out of her trailer, Johnston exchanged text messages about it

with Fleming, and they were both happy about it. (*Id.*) The prosecutor then stated, "I ask you, what kind of man does that? And what does that tell you about his character? It certainly tells us he wanted her out of the house." (*Id.*) After discussing Johnston's locking of the trailing further, the prosecutor stated, "I think that, again, tells us reams about who he is." (*Id.* at 946.) The prosecutor then pointed out that the evidence demonstrated that Johnston drove to his house on the morning of February 14 shortly after Waller had learned that he had placed locks on her house and she had called him about that. (*Id.* at 948.) The prosecutor argued that they had an argument that morning about the house, and he killed her during that argument. (*Id.* at 947-51.)

The prosecutor acknowledged that the State did not know how Johnston had killed Waller. He pointed out that "[w]e don't know, because he hid the body. Her body now rests in some dirty and disrespectful location, hidden by the defendant." (*Id.* at 951.)

The prosecutor also discussed Johnston's efforts to have coworkers lie and say he had been at work and to have Sorteberg lie about seeing Johnston move Waller's vehicle. (*Id.* at 952-53.) Discussing differences between Johnston's and Sorteberg's testimony about the type of barrel Johnston was looking for, the prosecutor stated, "I submit to you, ladies and gentleman, when it comes to the credibility of this defendant, who has lied and lied and lied throughout this trial,

compared to Bill Sorteberg, who raised his hand under oath, you make that decision. I think it's simple. I think it's easy." (*Id.* at 953.)

The prosecutor next discussed Johnston's efforts to falsify a Facebook post from Waller suggesting she was still alive, which caused her family significant pain. (*Id.* at 958-60.) The prosecutor also pointed out that Johnston cleaned out Waller's belongings from her home without notifying Waller's sister, even though he had previously agreed they would go to the house together. (*Id.* at 960.) The prosecutor questioned again what that told the jury about Johnston's character. (*Id.* at 961.)

The prosecutor then discussed the timeline in detail, pointing out that the phone evidence demonstrated that Johnston arrived at the house immediately after Waller sent her last text message. (*Id.* at 962.) Johnston later possessed the phone Waller had sent the message from, demonstrating he took it from her after she sent that last message. (*Id.*) The prosecutor explained that that evidence was inconsistent with Johnston's claim that Waller had just left the house and left her phone behind. (*Id.*) The prosecutor also pointed out that Johnston turned off his phone again several days later, so they could not track where he had been at that time. (*Id.* at 962-63.)

The prosecutor acknowledged that the State did not know where Waller's body was or how she was killed. (*Id.* at 964.) He then stated, "Unfortunately, only

the defendant knows the answer to those [questions]. Somewhere in Montana, Nicole Waller lies in a cold and lonely grave, taken from her children, taken from her family, by that man, Cody Johnston." (*Id.* at 964-65.) Johnston's counsel did not object during the State's closing argument.

In response, Johnston's counsel highlighted the weaknesses in the State's case. He pointed out that the State had not told the jury how Waller had died or where her body was located. (Id. at 966.) He acknowledged that Johnston had lied to authorities, but he argued that those mistakes did not establish that Johnston killed Waller. (*Id.* at 967.) Counsel argued that the evidence did not clearly establish that Johnston arrived that morning when Waller was still there. (Id.) And counsel explained that it would have been reasonable for Waller to have left her phone behind when Johnston had already told her he was going to turn off service to the phone. (Id.) Counsel pointed out that there was no indication a fight had happened, noting that Johnston did not have injuries, there was no blood in the house, and neighbors did not hear fighting. (Id. at 968.) Counsel emphasized the timeline and argued that Johnston could not have disposed of Waller's body on the morning of February 14 when his phone was off because he was with Sorteberg that morning. (*Id.* at 971.) Counsel also argued that the barrel was a red herring that did not demonstrate that Johnston killed Waller. (Id. at 969.) Counsel asked the jury to read all of the text messages in evidence, rather than just the ones the

State had pulled out in a presentation. (*Id.* at 972.) He argued that the messages demonstrated that Johnston had been trying to get Waller to go to treatment and that both Waller and Johnston engaged in manipulation. (*Id.* at 972-74.) Counsel argued that the State did not meet its burden to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt because the State left too many questions unanswered. (*Id.* at 980-81.)

In rebuttal, the State emphasized that Johnston asked coworkers to lie to create an alibi, moved Waller's vehicle, and solicited people to create false

Facebook posts, which was consistent with him trying to cover up killing Waller.

(Id. at 982-94.) Addressing the barrel again, the prosecutor stated that Johnston's claim that he needed a barrel for his mechanic work was "ridiculous." The prosecutor stated, "I know what that barrel was for. Bill Sorteberg knew what that barrel was for. And I submit you should know what that barrel was for as well."

(Id. at 984.) In conclusion, the prosecutor argued that the jury could use its common sense to conclude that Waller did not go anywhere on the morning of February 14, and she was instead killed by Johnston. (Id. at 985.)

The jury found Johnston guilty of deliberate homicide and tampering with physical evidence. (*Id.* at 989.)

## III. Postconviction proceeding

Johnston filed a pro se Petition for Postconviction Relief, raising three claims: actual innocence/insufficiency of the evidence, prosecutorial misconduct, and ineffective assistance of counsel. (PCR Doc. 2.) Johnston asserted that there was evidence that Waller was alive after February 14, 2013, so he was actually innocent; that the State maliciously prosecuted him despite evidence that Waller was alive; that his counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence that the victim was alive; and that the State engaged in a conspiracy against him. (PCR Doc. 2 at 10-11.) He later filed an "addendum," in which he asserted that he had been unable to communicate to his attorney to express his actual innocence

The court issued a *Gillham* Order, allowing Johnston's trial counsel, Clark Mathews and Casey Moore, to respond to his claims. (PCR Doc. 9.) The court also ordered the State to respond. (PCR Doc. 19.)

In response, the State argued that Johnston's sufficiency of the evidence claim was procedurally barred, his prosecutorial misconduct claim lacked any factual basis, he failed to show that his counsel was ineffective, and he failed to establish that any new evidence existed to support a claim of actual innocence.

(PCR Doc. 25.) The State explained that Johnston's counsel and law enforcement

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